
9 July 2019

NOTICE OF MEETING

EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
will meet on

Wednesday, 17 July 2019
beginning at

7:00 pm
at

Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

TO: Councillor Paul Bicknell (Chairman)
Councillor Tina Campbell (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Alex Bourne Councillor Daniel Clarke
Councillor Jephthe Doguie Councillor Wayne Irish
Councillor Darshan Mann Councillor Rosemary Reynolds
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne

Staff Contacts: Daxa Bhatt, Democratic Services Officer Tel: 023 8068 8309; 
Email: daxa.bhatt@eastleigh.gov.uk

Guy Riddoch, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 3369; Email: 
guy.riddoch@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Performance and Governance Manager

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website -

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings
as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and 

other languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed. To register please contact the Democratic Services 
Officer above. 

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public, and  
Councillors will be using tablet devices to access committee papers.

Eastleigh House
 Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA

1. Chairman's Report    

2. Public Participation    

3. Minutes - 11/06/2019    (Pages 1 - 8) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 June 2019. 

4. Apologies    

5. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 

6. Presentation on Planning Guidelines    

7. Planning Application - Unit 3 Eastleigh Rail Works, Campbell Road, Eastleigh, 
SO50 5AD - F/19/85189    (Pages 9 - 18) 

Alterations to existing units to provide a single unit (Use Class B2) including partial 
demolition and creation of service yard. 

8. Planning Application - Eastleigh Rail Works, Campbell Road, Eastleigh, SO50 5AD 
- F/19/85191    (Pages 19 - 26) 

Change of use of Unit 6 from Class B2 (General Industrial) to Class D1 (Training 
Centre), and demolition of Unit 7. 

9. Planning Application - Gate 2 Eastleigh Rail Works Campbell Road Eastleigh 
SO50 5AD F/19/85188    (Pages 27 - 36) 

Reconfiguration of existing vehicular site access (Gate 2) and associated works 
including repositioned boundary fence and demolition of building. 

10. Planning Appeals     

The Head of Legal Services to report:-

that the following appeal has been lodged:-
 
Appeal by: Ben Randall, Studio Randall
Site address: 10 Laburnum Grove, Eastleigh. SO50 9DJ 

Appeal against the Council's refusal of planning permission for the demolition of 
existing detached garage and store, and erection of two and single storey side 
extension.

This was a delegated decision.

 
 



DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Tuesday, 10 September 2019 at 7:00 pm
at Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, 

Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news-

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1

EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 11 June 2019  (7:00 pm – 9:22 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor Bicknell (Chairman); Councillors Campbell, Clarke, Irish and 
Mann

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Bourne, Doguie, 
Reynolds and Tyson-Payne

________________________________________

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

57. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT

The Chair reported that there were a many events scheduled to take place 
in the area over the next few months, including Mayoral Fundraising event 
at Steam Town Brewery on 17th June, The Points Summer Social and 
outdoor films, Sorting Office Open studios 22nd & 23rd June, Eastleigh 
Unwrapped on 22 June 2019, Lakeside Funday 6th July, Eastleigh Mele 
21st July, Eastleigh Pride 7th September, Eastleigh Remembers 
Commemorating D Day on 14 September 2019, Lakeside Country Park 
has a number of events coming up, Eastleigh’s new boxing club has 
opened and Friday night football is  back for the summer season. 

Grantham Green was Highly Commended in the Green Space category in 
the 2019 National Street design awards. 
Places Leisure Eastleigh also won an award from the Royal Institute of 
British Architects

58. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Yvonne Roberts highlighted concerns around a slip hazard for children 
and elderly residents from debris falling from crab apple trees between 85 
to 87 Shakespeare Road, which is an ongoing problem. The resident is 
aware that trees are responsibility of Hampshire County Council (HCC) but 
they have not addressed the issue.

The Chair responded that it is the policy of both HCC and Eastleigh 
Borough Council (EBC)  that no tree will be removed unless it is 
dangerous, sick or dying or impeding the highway but the Council’s street 
teams would be asked to clean the area more often if necessary.

1

Agenda Item 3



2

Keith Hailwood highlighted concerns regarding illegal parking that takes 
place at Allbrook Hil, which forces his wife, who uses a mobility scooter to 
use the main road.  Mr Hailwood advised photographs have been sent to 
the Police and the Parish Council. Mr Hailwood has requested that 
something be done and suggested double yellow lines.

The Chair responded that pavement parking comes under the jurisdiction 
of the Police and is their primary responsibility.  It is not an offence to park 
on the pavement except where someone cannot get passed and it is only 
reportable at the time of the offence occurring and the Police cannot 
enforce this retrospectively.  Double yellow lines may prove detrimental for 
local residents therefore will be taken forward through Committee (ELAC) 
where small traffic works can be undertaken and Chair would add it to the 
list.  

Mr White told the Committee that it is great to have lots of local events but 
there is a problem with the bus shelter on Twyford Road. Passengers have 
the choice to use the shelter and risk missing the bus, as it is outside the 
field of vision of the oncoming bus, or stand exposed to the elements 
which defeats the purpose of the bus shelter.  The bus shelter has 
obscured frosted glass.

The Chair advised that he would pass this report onto the Sustainable 
Transport Manager with a view to potentially replacing the frosted glass 
with clear glass.

Josh Constable wanted to highlight his concerns about parking charges 
being levied on all District Councils by HCC.  Mr Constable asked if this 
was being done as a blanket approach or, was consideration being given 
to means testing residents as it may cause hardship to families on low 
incomes. The Chair advised that it remains a HCC decision and suggested 
Mr Constable takes his concerns forward to an appropriate HCC forum. 

Mr Constable also asked about the council declaring a climate emergency.  
The Chair advised this would be taken up by full council. 

59. MINUTES

RESOLVED -

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 March 2019 be confirmed 
and signed by the Chair as a correct record.

2



3

60. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Cllr Wayne Irish declared a pecuniary interest as he is a member of the 
Parochial Church Council and Deputy Church Warden.  He left the room 
and did not take part on the debate or vote on the item (Agenda Item 15). 

61. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES

The Senior Planning  Officer gave a short presentation on guidelines 
determining planning applications; in particular the issues that could, and 
could not, be taken into account.  This was set against the broader policy 
framework.

62. PLANNING APPLICATION - BUILDERS YARD AT THE END OF MOUNT 
VIEW, TO THE REAR OF 44 TWYFORD ROAD, EASTLEIGH, 
HAMPSHIRE, SO50 4HJ

The Committee considered the report of the Development Management 
Specialist (Agenda Item 7) concerning an application for part demolition of 
existing buildings and construction of 4no. one bedroom apartments in a 
2.5 storey building, and 2no. one bedroom 1.5 storey houses at Builders 
Yard at the end of Mount View, to the rear of 44 Twyford Road, Eastleigh, 
SO50 4HJ (Ref:F/18/84511).

The Committee was updated that: 

• Since publication of the report, details of external facing materials 
and a Construction Environment Management Plan have been 
received and that these details were currently being considered. If 
these details are deemed acceptable, the wording of conditions 3 
and 4 will be altered to require compliance with these details, rather 
than their pre-commencement submission as currently stated. 

RESOLVED -

PERMIT subject to the satisfactory resolution of the matter of the impacts 
of the development upon nutrient increases within the River Itchen SAC 
and Solent and Southampton Water SPA, and with the following 
amendment to condition 7:

 No deliveries to the site shall take place during the demolition and 
construction period except between the hours of 0900 to 1500 
Mondays to Fridays and no construction or demolition work shall be 
undertaken except between the hours of 0900 to 1700 Monday to 
Friday, with no deliveries or construction or demolition works to be 
undertaken at all on Saturdays, Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby 
dwellings.

3



4

(NOTE: Four members of the public spoke in objection citing concerns, 
including insufficiency of car parking in the area, traffic congestion, 
insufficient detail in the plans overlooking of existing properties, access to 
commercial units, construction being detrimental to residents, safety 
concerns during building work, manoeuvrability of vehicles and possibility 
of accidents. The agent for the development spoke in support of the 
application.) 

63. PLANNING APPEALS

The Head of Legal and Democratic Services reported:-

(a) that the following appeals had been lodged:-

Appeal against the Council's refusal of planning permission for the 
Builders Yard at the end of Mount View, to the rear of 44 Twyford 
Road, Eastleigh, for the construction of 5 no. 1-bedroom 
apartments within 3-storey block and 3no. 1-bed dwelling houses 
within 2-storey terrace, following partial demolition of existing 
buildings .

This was a delegated decision.

Appeal against the Council's refusal of planning permission for the 
erection of 1 no. 3 bed detached dwelling with parking to the rear of 
no 22 Nightingale Avenue.

This was a delegated decision.

Appeal against the Council's refusal of planning permission for the 
Erection of 2 no. 2-bedroom dwellings with private rear gardens and 
parking to front Land Adjacent to 9 Saddlers Close.  Formation of 
additional parking spaces and formalisation of on street parking 
spaces within Saddlers Close.

(b) that the following appeals had been allowed:-

Planning permission is granted for side and rear extensions at 5 
Penshurst Way, Eastleigh SO50 4RH in accordance with the terms of 
the application, Ref H/18/84300, dated 23 October 2018, subject to the 
following conditions:

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than 3 
years from the date of this decision.

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans: 

4



5

A (Existing elevations. 1/100 at A3); 

B (Existing floor plan. 1/100 at A3); 

C (Proposed elevations. 1/100 at A3); 

D (Proposed ground floor. 1/50 at A3); 

E (proposed first floor. 1/50 at A3) and

F (Location & site plans. 1/1250 & 1/500 at A3).

3) The materials used in the construction of the external surfaces of 
the

extension hereby permitted shall match those used on the 
existing         building. Planning permission is granted for a 
double storey extension to side of property at 103 Nightingale 
Avenue, Eastleigh SO50 9JY in accordance with the terms of the 
application, Ref H/18/84333, dated 28 October 2018, subject to 
the following conditions:

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 
year from the date of this decision.

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans: Site Plan 1:1250; 
Block Plan 1:200;Proposed Plans and Elevations Drawing 
Number 103; Proposed Plans. Drawing Number 104; Proposed 
Section & Building Regulation Notes. Drawing Number 104;

3) The materials to be used in the construction of the external 
finishes    of the development hereby permitted shall match those 
used on the existing building. 

RESOLVED -

That the report be noted.

64. VELMORE ESTATE EASTLEIGH TRAFFIC CONCERNS

Velmore Traffic Concerns

The Senior Engineer recommended:

1)  A parking survey be carried out to establish the current parking 
situation on the Velmore Estate to be funded from the Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO) additional allocation;

(2)  The phase 1 parking restrictions for Wiltshire Road, Cox Road, 
Belmont Road shown in paragraph 3.1 of the Report are implemented 
to be funded from the TRO additional allocation.

5



6

(3) The parking restrictions on Devon Drive and Cornwall Road shown in 
paragraph 4.2 of the Report are implemented to be funded from the 
TRO additional allocation; and

(4) A review be undertaken after six months to determine if further 
restrictions are required;

RESOLVED -
The Committee resolved to approve these recommendations

65. AIR QUALITY REPORT

The Committee considered the report of the Environmental Lead Officer 
which provided an update on air quality in Eastleigh;  the progress in 
delivering the air quality management plan;  plans to review these actions 
and estimated costings for replacing monitoring equipment and relocating 
monitoring
stations.

RESOLVED – 

That the report be noted. 

66. APPOINTMENT OF OUTSIDE BODIES

RESOLVED – 

That  appointments to outside bodies for 2019/20 be as follows:

 Age Concern, Eastleigh –Cllr Campbell

 Asian Elders, Culture and Welfare Organisation – Cllr Campbell

 Lakeside Country Park Users Group –Cllr Bicknell and Cllr 
Campbell (deputy)

 Pavilion on the Park –Councillors Irish and Cllr Bourne

 The Hub –Cllr Reynolds and Cllr Doguie

 University of Southampton (Wide Lane Sports Facilities – 
Users Advisor Group 2019/20) Cllr Doguie

67. APPOINTMENT TO REGULATORY PANELS AND OTHER GROUPS

RESOLVED – 

That appointments for 2019/20 to regulatory panels and other groups 
be as follows:

6



7

 Eastleigh Borough Council/Test Valley Liaison Group –Cllr 
Irish

 Shopwatch –Councillor Tyson-Payne

 Eastleigh Museum Joint Management Committee –Cllr Irish, 
Cllr Reynolds and Cllr Bicknell

 Regulatory Panel – all members of the Committee to be 
appointed to a pool for all licensing appeals from which any 
three can be selected.

The Local Area Manager was requested to provide updated contact details 
of officers for Lakeside Country Club, The Hub. 

68. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT

Councillor Irish declared a pecuniary interest in recommendation number 
5. He voted on recommendations 1-4 and 6, and then left the room and did 
not take part in the debate or vote on recommendation number 5.

Consideration was given to the report by the Local Area Manager (Agenda
item 13) that contained recommendations for expenditure from the
Committee’s capital budget and revenue budget, together with the
Strategic Planning revenue budget.

RESOLVED – that ELAC APPROVED:

(1) Up to £33,000 is allocated for the Eastleigh Youth Partnership 
Co-ordinator from the revenue reserve;

(2) £3,000 is allocated for the Eastleigh Youth Grant Fund, with 
£1,500 from the revenue budget on an on-going basis and 
£1,500 from the revenue reserve to be approved on an annual 
basis;

(3) £9,000 is allocated for an additional session of youth provision 
at the Energy Youth Centre from the revenue budget on an on-
going basis;

(4) That £1,800 was allocated for the Velmore Youth Café 
provision for 2019/20 from the revenue reserve;

(5) £150,000 (together with subsequent accrued interest) is 
allocated for a community development worker for North 
Stoneham Park from forward funding of developer’s 
contributions; and

(6) £2,088 is allocated for Campbell Road Play Area improvements 
from the revenue. 

7



8

69. EXEMPT BUSINESS

RESOLVED -
 
(1) That, in pursuance of Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 

Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
for the following items of business on the grounds that they 
are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act; 
and

(2) That, in pursuance of the public interest test, the public 
interest in disclosing the information contained in the following 
item of business was outweighed by the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption.

70. FINANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT

Resolved - 

That the report item be APPROVED.

M6444

8



ELAC – Eastleigh Local Area Committee Wednesday 17 July 2019.

Application Number: F/19/85189
Case Officer: Gary Osmond
Received Date: Wednesday 13 March 2019

Site Address: UNIT 3, EASTLEIGH RAIL WORKS, CAMPBELL ROAD, 
EASTLEIGH, SO50 5AD

Applicant: Diageo Pension Trust Limited.

Proposal: Alterations to existing units to provide a single unit (Use 
Class B2) including partial demolition and creation of service 
yard.

Recommendation: PERMIT

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

1 The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: 19-026_604 Rev P1, 19-026_600 Rev P1, 19-
026_601 Rev P1, PL25, PL26, PL27, PL28, PL29, PL30, PL31 Rev A & PL32.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2 The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 
date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

3 The resulting unit hereby approved shall only be occupied by 'Brookwood Barn 
Company Ltd.' and to no other person or company. When Brookwood Barn 
Company Ltd. vacate the premises, it shall revert to either a B1(c) use as 
defined by The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 
amended), or in any provision equivalent to that class in any Statutory 
Instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification, or a 
B2 railway related use.
Reason: An unrestricted B2 general industrial use is not considered appropriate 
in such close proximity to residential properties.

4 No construction or demolition work shall start until a Method Statement has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with the 
approved method statement which shall include:
a) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated by demolition 
and construction works, including measures to prevent mud on the highway; 
and
b) a scheme for controlling noise and vibration from demolition and construction 
activities [including details of any piling];
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the locality.

9

Agenda Item 7



5 Development shall not commence until a management strategy has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority covering 
the application site and any adjoining land which will be used during the 
demolition and construction period. Such a strategy shall include the following 
matters:
a) details of the area subject to construction activity;
b) details of cranes and other tall construction equipment (including the details 
of obstacle lighting) – Such schemes shall comply with Advice Note 4 ‘Cranes 
and Other Construction Issues’(available at https://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-
campaigns/operations-safety/ );
c) control of activities likely to produce dust and smoke etc;
d) details of temporary lighting – Such details shall comply with Advice Note 2 
‘Lighting Near Aerodromes’ (available at 
www.aoa.org.uk/publications/safeguarding.asp );
e) height of storage areas for materials or equipment; and
f) control and disposal of putrescible waste to prevent attraction of birds. 
The approved strategy (or any variation approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority) shall be implemented for the duration of the construction 
period.
Reason: To ensure that construction work and construction equipment on the 
site and adjoining land does not breach the Obstacle Limitation Surface (OLS) 
surrounding Southampton Airport and endanger aircraft movements and the 
safe operation of the aerodrome.

6 The development is close to the aerodrome and/or aircraft taking off from or 
landing at the aerodrome. Lighting schemes required during construction and 
on the completed development shall be of a flat glass, full cut off design, 
mounted horizontally, and shall ensure that there is no light spill above the 
horizontal.
Reason: To avoid endangering the safe operation of aircraft through confusion 
with aeronautical ground lights or glare.

7 No construction or refurbishment work shall start until details of any new 
mechanical extraction equipment has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Any such equipment shall be installed in 
accordance with the approved details and thereafter maintained in full working 
order.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.

8 No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source shall 
take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.

9 No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during the 
construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to 
Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Bank 
Holidays.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.

10

https://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-campaigns/operations-safety/
https://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-campaigns/operations-safety/
http://www.aoa.org.uk/publications/safeguarding.asp


Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever 
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a 
timely manner.

Report:

This application has been referred to Committee by Councillors Bicknell, 
Campbell, Clarke and Irish, as well as for reasons of completeness and public 
interest.

Description of Application

1. The application seeks consent for alterations to three existing commercial 
units to provide a single unit (Use Class B2), which would include partial 
demolition and the creation of a service yard for the use of the reconfigured 
unit.

Topography, Trees & Boundary Treatment

2. This part of the railway works is generally flat and level, with no trees and is 
positioned within the site, meaning that there is no formally defined boundary 
to the units in question other than their external walls.

Site Characteristics & Character of Locality

3. The units are located roughly centrally within the smaller westernmost range 
of buildings near to Gate 3, which is one of two current main access points 
into the works site from Campbell Road. The largest of the existing three units 
is occupied by a timber frame manufacturing company, the ‘Brookwood Barn 
Company Ltd.’ who would be retained as the tenant of the resulting unit.

4. The immediate surrounding area is very industrial in character, having been in 
use as a railway and manufacturing works for more than a hundred years. It is 
also in close proximity to the main Southampton to London railway line, as 
well as being under the flight path for Southampton Airport. However, there 
are also a significant number of residential properties situated further south 
along Campbell Road, which share the same access route along Campbell 
Road to Southampton Road.

Relevant Planning History

5. Despite the length of time the railway works have been in operation, formal 
planning history is relatively limited. Notwithstanding this, the site has a long 
established B2 general industrial use, albeit specifically related to railway use 

11



and ancillary operations. This has been formally established through the 
issuing of a Lawful Development Certificate in 2008.

6. In recent years with the winding down of railway operations on site, a number 
of other occupiers have moved in to make use of empty buildings, some with 
and some without any formal planning approval. The new site owners and 
landlord is now looking to rectify and formalise this situation through the 
submission of a series of planning applications, this application be one of a 
number currently under consideration.

Representations Received

7. Two representations have been received for this application highlighting the 
following concerns and issues:

 Noise and air pollution.
 Dust caused by demolition.
 Potential asbestos within the buildings to be demolished.
 Operating hours of the business.
 Vehicle movements associated with the business and the suitability of 

Campbell Road as the only access to the site.

Consultation Responses

8. Hampshire Highways – No objection provided it is demonstrated that internal 
access within the railway works site to the resulting unit is not compromised 
by existing parking, and that adequate room is retained within the yard to 
allow for turning of HGVs and other delivery vehicles.

9. No planning obligations towards transport works are sought.

10. It is recommended that Network Rail, as owners and maintainers, be 
consulted in relation to the Campbell Road railway bridge.

11.Environmental Health (Noise) – A number of concerns raised in relation to 
noise impact upon adjacent residential properties likely to result from the 
industrial use of the unit, the intended hours of operation, activities within the 
external service yard and deliveries to and from the unit.

12.Southampton Airport Safeguarding – No objection subject to the 
submission and approval of a Demolition and Construction Management 
Strategy to ensure the safeguarding of aircraft using the aerodrome.

13.Network Rail – No comments received.

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Within Built-up Area Boundary
 Within an Established Industrial/Employment Area
 Close to Established Residential Area

12



Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

14.Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) saved Policies: 25.NC, 
29.ES, 59.BE, 69.BE, 100.T & 111.E

15.Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 
in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While this has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be 
considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this 
application.

16.Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
The Council undertook public consultation on an updated Local Plan (2016 – 
2036) during the summer of 2018 with the plan being formally submitted to the 
Secretary of State in October 2018. Given the status of the Emerging Plan, it 
is considered that limited weight can be attributed to it.

17.Supplementary Planning Documents

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (July 2008, 

updated 2010)

National Planning Policy Framework

18.At a national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the 
‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. The NPPF states that (as required by 
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.

19.The three identified dimensions of sustainability should to be sought jointly: 
economic (supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social 
(providing housing, creating high quality environment with accessible local 
services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing 
natural, built and historic environment) whilst local circumstances should also 
be taken into account, so that development appropriately responds to the 
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different 
areas.

National Planning Practice Guidance 

20.Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration 
of planning applications. 

13



Policy Commentary

21.The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which 
this application will be assessed with particular regard to: the principle of that 
proposed; its layout and design; traffic, parking and highway issues; impact 
upon the amenity of the area and neighbouring uses; as well as nature 
conservation.

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background

22.Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:-

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must 
be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise."

In this case policy issues for consideration include:

Principle

23.The application site lies within the urban edge where the basic principle of 
development is considered to be acceptable. It also lies within an established 
industrial/employment area, meaning that further proposals for similar 
development would be generally appropriate for the nature of the surrounding 
area. However, any formal planning approval will be based upon the exact 
nature, design and impact of that proposed being considered appropriate and 
in accordance with the relevant Local Plan policies and Supplementary 
Planning Documents. The most relevant policy in this case is saved Policy 
59.BE of the adopted Local Plan which requires development to take full and 
proper account of the context of the site including the character and 
appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, 
layout, design and siting. It also requires a satisfactory means of access and 
layout for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians, and to avoid unduly impacting on 
neighbouring uses and occupiers. Other saved policies of relevance are 
29.ES, 69.BE and 111.E.

24.Saved Policy 29.ES states that “Industrial or commercial development which 
would result in any noise-sensitive premises being subject to a loss of amenity 
by means of an excessive increase in noise and/or vibration exposure, will not 
be permitted.”

25.Saved Policy 69.BE relates to the Southampton International Airport Public 
Safety Zone, and states that “Development proposals which would increase 
the population living or working in the Southampton International Airport 
Public Safety Zone will not be permitted.” In this instance the proposals are 
intended to improve the existing situation and would not result in any 
population increase.

14



26.Saved Policy 111.E specifically relates to industrial development or 
redevelopment proposals within the Eastleigh Railway Works site. This sets 
out a number of criteria which must be met as part of any development 
proposals. However, the policy is more relevant to larger scale redevelopment 
of the site rather than minor works such as that proposed within this planning 
application.

27. In simple planning principle therefore, the proposed alterations to the existing 
three units to create a single unit is acceptable. However, any final planning 
approval will be dependent upon its potential impact being considered 
acceptable.

Layout & Design

28.The existing three units are arranged with two smaller units to the front (west) 
and a single larger unit to the rear (east). The intension is that the two smaller 
units to the front would be removed, with the remaining building altered and 
the footprint of the smaller units being incorporated into an external service 
yard for the sole use of the resulting single unit.

29. In terms of the resulting appearance of the building, it would be typical of the 
industrial nature of the site and an improvement over the existing rather tired 
structure. Its impact upon the street scene and general visual amenity of the 
area would be negligible.

Traffic, Parking & Highway Issues

30.As has been set out in the response from Hampshire Highways, it is not 
expected that the smaller footprint of the resulting unit compared to the 
current three would result in any additional vehicular movements. In theory 
the number of movements should reduce, which would be an improvement 
over the original situation. In fact, the larger external yard will allow for more 
stock to be held, thereby resulting in fewer deliveries being required.

31.There is more than sufficient space within the railway works for general staff 
parking, and there may even be scope for parking related to the resulting unit 
to be accommodated within its service yard. Some concern was raised that 
existing parking could be compromised by the need to provide access to the 
service yard, but given the generous amount of space within the works site 
this should not be an issue and could easily be managed by the occupiers 
and landlord.

32.Some concern has been expressed with regards to the suitability of the 
Campbell Road railway bridge as access to the railway works site, particularly 
for large HGVs. These concerns relate to difficulties experienced by HGVs 
turning the sharp bends at either end of the bridge, which has resulted in 
regular damage to the structure, the weight of these large goods vehicles and 
conflicts between vehicles and pedestrians, as well as residents and those 
accessing the commercial businesses within the railway works site. These are 

15



valid concerns which appear to have increased over recent years as the 
nature of business activities within the railway works site have changed.

33.Notwithstanding these concerns and without specific evidence to demonstrate 
that it is operations from this particular unit which is causing these issues, as 
well as the view of the Highway Authority that vehicle movements would 
reduce, it is not considered that this could be used as a reason to consider 
refusal of the application. Overall therefore, the application is considered to be 
acceptable in relation to traffic, parking and highway issues.

Amenity

34.A number of concerns have been highlighted by neighbours who have 
commented on the application and the Council’s Environmental Health 
Officer, in relation to demolition and noise impact. Disturbance caused during 
the demolition and construction process can easily be controlled through 
suitable conditions which require a demolition and construction method 
statement to be agreed prior to works commencing and to restrict working 
hours, etc.

35.Disturbance resulting from the everyday operation of the business which 
would occupy the unit also needs to be taken into consideration. Concern has 
been raised by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer that there is the 
potential for activities within the unit to impact upon nearby residents if 
sufficient controls are not imposed. However, a balance must be struck 
between the protection of residents and allowing the business to operate 
without unreasonable restrictions.

36.The existing occupier of Unit 3 is the ‘Brookwood Barn Company Ltd.’ who 
manufactures and erect oak framed buildings. It is intended that this company 
would continue to occupy the refurbished unit and associated service yard. 
The processing of timber and manufacture of timber buildings is considered to 
be a B2 general industrial use within The Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987. Having a B2 general industrial use in close proximity to 
residential properties would not usually be considered appropriate, principally 
due to issues of disturbance to residential amenity. However, in this instance 
this needs to be considered against the background of the application. Firstly, 
the intended occupier has already been operating from the site for five years 
with, it would appear, little or no specific complaints from residents. Secondly, 
the railway works as a whole already has a long established and unrestricted 
B2 industrial use, albeit railway related, which could be reinstated within the 
unit without the need for any planning approval. When taking this background 
into consideration, it would be difficult to insist upon restrictive operating hours 
or overly onerous conditions in relation to construction of the building, such as 
high levels of sound insulation.

37.Notwithstanding this, there is a need to ensure that nearby residents are not 
unreasonably impacted by the use of the unit. As such, it is recommended 
that a personal permission for the Brookwood Barn Company only be 
considered, with additional restrictions on the uses which could occupy the 

16



unit if and when Brookwood Barns vacated to B1(c) light industrial or B2 
railway related use. Such a condition would prevent an unrestricted B2 
general industrial occupier from taking on the unit whose activities could well 
result in an unacceptable level of additional disturbance to the amenity of 
residents. Such a condition would also require any non-railway related B2 use 
to be approved by the LPA through a new planning application. This would 
allow the specific use to be assessed and suitable controls applied where 
necessary.

38. In addition to this, a further condition requiring details of any new mechanical 
extraction equipment to be installed and agreed with the LPA is also 
recommended to again ensure disturbance to residents is minimised.

39.Other potential sources of disturbance could result from vehicle movements 
associated with the intended use, as well as the loading and unloading of 
delivery and company vehicles. Restrictions on when these activities can 
occur have been considered but in this instance are felt to be unreasonable 
and unnecessary. Access to Unit 3 is via Gate 3 from Campbell Road. This 
gate has unrestricted 24/7 use, meaning that it would not be realistically 
possible to restrict or monitor those vehicles associated with the application 
use and those of other businesses using the railway works site. In addition to 
this, operations by Brookwood Barns are generally limited to daytime hours 
and deliveries relatively infrequent. As such, it is not considered necessary or 
reasonable to apply conditions in relation to the restriction of delivery hours or 
vehicular movements.

Nature Conservation

40.The site and immediate surrounding area is not subject to any nature 
conservation designations and is unlikely to be used by protected species 
such as bats due to the high level of activity throughout the day and night, as 
well as lighting of the works site overnight which would not be suitable for bats 
to roost or forage.

Planning Obligations / Considerations

41. In this instance the only planning obligations which could be sought would be 
towards sustainable transport and highway improvements. However, as has 
been set out in the consultation response from Hampshire Highways, it is not 
envisaged that the resulting single unit would cause any further trips over and 
above that which currently occur or did occur from the existing three units. As 
such, planning obligations are not sought.

Conclusion

42.The proposed alterations to the existing unit for the continued and improved 
use of an existing occupier is considered to be meet the three dimensions of 
sustainability as identified by the NPPF (social, economic and environmental), 
as well as accord with the requirements of saved Policies 29.ES, 59.BE, 
69.BE, 100.T and 111.E of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-

17



2011), together with the Council’s ‘Quality Places’ Supplementary Planning 
Document. As such, the application is recommended for approval subject to 
the conditions set out above.

18



ELAC – Eastleigh Local Area Committee Wednesday 17 July 2019.

Application Number: F/19/85191
Case Officer: Gary Osmond
Received Date: Wednesday 13 March 2019

Site Address: EASTLEIGH RAIL WORKS, CAMPBELL ROAD, 
EASTLEIGH, SO50 5AD

Applicant: Diageo Pension Trust Limited .

Proposal: Change of use of Unit 6 from Class B2 (General Industrial) to 
Class D1 (Training Centre), and demolition of Unit 7.

Recommendation: PERMIT

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

1 The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: PL19.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2 The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 
date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

3 The development hereby approved shall be used for classroom based industrial 
training and for no other purpose, including any other purpose in Class D1 of 
the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning [Use Classes] Order 1987, or 
in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking 
and re-enacting that Order with or without modification.
Reason: The unit is not considered suitable or appropriate for other D1 uses.

4 Development shall not commence until a demolition management strategy has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
covering the application site and any adjoining land which will be used during 
the demolition period. Such a strategy shall include the following matters:
a) Details of the area subject to construction activity;
b) Details of cranes and other tall construction equipment (including the details 
of obstacle lighting) – Such schemes shall comply with Advice Note 4 ‘Cranes 
and Other Construction Issues’(available at https://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-
campaigns/operations-safety/ );
c) Control of activities likely to produce dust and smoke etc;
d) Details of temporary lighting – Such details shall comply with Advice Note 2 
‘Lighting Near Aerodromes’ (available at 
www.aoa.org.uk/publications/safeguarding.asp );
e) Height of storage areas for materials or equipment; and
f) Control and disposal of putrescible waste to prevent attraction of birds.  
The approved strategy (or any variation approved in writing by the Local 

19

Agenda Item 8

https://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-campaigns/operations-safety/
https://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-campaigns/operations-safety/
http://www.aoa.org.uk/publications/safeguarding.asp


Planning Authority) shall be implemented for the duration of the construction 
period.
Reason: To ensure that demolition work and construction equipment on the site 
and adjoining land does not breach the Obstacle Limitation Surface (OLS) 
surrounding Southampton Airport and endanger aircraft movements and the 
safe operation of the aerodrome.
 

5 No demolition works shall take place during the demolition period except 
between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on 
Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Bank Holidays.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.

6 No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source shall 
take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.

Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever 
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a 
timely manner.

8 Note to Applicant: Given the proposal for demolition, it has been assumed the 
build date of the building planned for demolition predates the year 2000 and 
therefore contains asbestos containing materials (ACM). In accordance with 
The Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 an Asbestos Survey should be 
undertaken prior to demolition. Without such a survey and the subsequent 
safe removal of ACMs disposed of to an appropriate waste management 
facility, it may be assumed that demolition will result in the potential 
exposure of site workers and the surrounding environment to asbestos 
fibres. Where asbestos contamination is suspected the LPA may request the 
survey and waste transfer notes to help assess the potential for contamination. 
To help with managing asbestos on site the Health Safety Executive have 
published a series of method and task lists to help with the management and 
disposal of asbestos, available for download from the following 
website: http://www.hse.gov.uk/asbestos/essentials/index.htm

20

http://www.hse.gov.uk/asbestos/essentials/index.htm


Report:

This application has been referred to Committee by Councillors Bicknell, 
Campbell, Clarke and Irish, as well as for reasons of completeness and public 
interest.

Description of Application

1. The application seeks consent for the change of use of Unit 6 from a B2 
railway related use to a D1 use which would allow it to be used as a centre for 
training in lifting operations for forklift, trucks, telescopic handlers, access 
equipment, slinging, cranes, lift planning and other plant equipment used in 
the construction, industrial and port sectors.

2. The application also includes the demolition of Unit 7, which in itself does not 
require formal planning consent but is required in order to facilitate proposals 
to reconfigure and improve an existing access between Gates 2 & 3. This is 
covered by a concurrent application (F/19/85188).

Topography, Trees & Boundary Treatment

3. This part of the railway works is generally flat and level, albeit is situated close 
to the embankment which provides access up and over the Campbell Road 
railway bridge. There are no trees or formally defined boundaries to the units 
in question other than their external walls.

Site Characteristics & Character of Locality

4. Unit 6 is located just north of Gate 2 along the western boundary of the 
railway works adjacent to the bridge embankment. It is a single storey pitched 
roof structure and appears to be one of the original works buildings. Unit 7 is 
situated to the south of Gate 2 and is a more recent building dating from the 
mid-20th Century. Parking for the unit is provided in an area next to it, with 
further parking available in the main office car park to the north of the building.

5. The immediate surrounding area is very industrial in character, having been in 
use as a railway and manufacturing works for more than a hundred years. It is 
also in close proximity to the main Southampton to London railway line, as 
well as being under the flight path for Southampton Airport. However, there 
are also a significant number of residential properties situated further south 
along Campbell Road, which share the same access route along Campbell 
Road to Southampton Road.

Relevant Planning History

6. Despite the length of time the railway works have been in operation, formal 
planning history is relatively limited. Notwithstanding this, the site has a long 
established B2 general industrial use, albeit specifically related to railway use 
and ancillary operations. This has been formally established through the 
issuing of a Lawful Development Certificate in 2008.

21



7. In recent years with the winding down of railway operations on site, a number 
of other occupiers have moved in to make use of empty buildings, some with 
and some without any formal planning approval. The new site owners and 
landlord is now looking to rectify and formalise this situation through the 
submission of a series of planning applications, this application be one of a 
number currently under consideration which has a direct relationship with 
application F/19/85188 for alterations to an existing vehicular access between 
Gates 2 and 3 from Campbell Road.

Representations Received

8. Two representations have been received for this application highlighting the 
following issue:

 Demolition will result in more large lorries using the railway bridge.

Consultation Responses

9. Hampshire Highways – No objection. No planning obligations towards 
transport works are sought.

10.Environmental Health (Contaminated Land) – No objection and not 
conditions requested. However, an informative in relation to asbestos is 
suggested.

11.Environmental Health (Noise) – No objection subject to conditions 
controlling hours of demolition works.

12.Southampton Airport Safeguarding – No objection subject to the 
submission and approval of a Demolition and Construction Management 
Strategy to ensure the safeguarding of aircraft using the aerodrome.

13.Network Rail – No comments received.

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Within Built-up Area Boundary
 Within an Established Industrial/Employment Area

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

14.Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) saved Policies: 25.NC, 
59.BE, 69.BE, 111.E & 117.E

15.Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 
in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While this has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be 

22



considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this 
application.

16.Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
The Council undertook public consultation on an updated Local Plan (2016 – 
2036) during the summer of 2018 with the plan being formally submitted to the 
Secretary of State in October 2018. Given the status of the Emerging Plan, it 
is considered that limited weight can be attributed to it.

Supplementary Planning Documents

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (July 2008, 

updated 2010)

National Planning Policy Framework

17.At a national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the 
‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. The NPPF states that (as required by 
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.

18.The three identified dimensions of sustainability should to be sought jointly: 
economic (supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social 
(providing housing, creating high quality environment with accessible local 
services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing 
natural, built and historic environment) whilst local circumstances should also 
be taken into account, so that development appropriately responds to the 
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different 
areas.

National Planning Practice Guidance 

19.Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration 
of planning applications. 

Policy Commentary

20.The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which 
this application will be assessed with particular regard to: the principle of that 
proposed; traffic and highway issues; impact upon the amenity of the area 
and neighbouring uses; as well as nature conservation.

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background

21.Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:-

23



"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must 
be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise."

In this case policy issues for consideration include:

Principle

22.The application site lies within the urban edge where the basic principle of 
development is considered to be acceptable. It also lies within an established 
industrial/employment area, meaning that further proposals for similar 
development would be generally appropriate for the nature of the surrounding 
area. However, any formal planning approval will be based upon the exact 
nature, design and impact of that proposed being considered appropriate and 
in accordance with the relevant Local Plan policies and Supplementary 
Planning Documents. The most relevant policy in this case is saved Policy 
59.BE of the adopted Local Plan which requires development to take full and 
proper account of the context of the site including the character and 
appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, 
layout, design and siting. It also requires a satisfactory means of access and 
layout for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians, and avoid unduly impacting on 
neighbouring uses and occupiers. Other saved policies of relevance are 
69.BE, 102.T and 111.E.

23.Saved Policy 69.BE relates to the Southampton International Airport Public 
Safety Zone, and states that “Development proposals which would increase 
the population living or working in the Southampton International Airport 
Public Safety Zone will not be permitted.” In this instance the proposals are 
intended to improve the existing situation and would not result in any 
population increase.

24.Saved Policy 111.E specifically relates to industrial development or 
redevelopment proposals within the Eastleigh Railway Works site. This sets 
out a number of criteria which must be met as part of any development 
proposals. However, the policy is more relevant to larger scale redevelopment 
of the site rather than minor works such as that proposed within this planning 
application.

25.Saved Policy 117.E states that “Proposals for new development or 
redevelopment for employment purposes (use classes B1, B2 or B8) within 
existing employment sites identified on the proposals map will be permitted, 
provided they do not conflict with policy on the location of office development.” 
The proposed D1 use would not fall within these approved employment 
purposes. However, the company in question provides training in lifting 
operations for forklift, trucks, telescopic handlers, access equipment, slinging, 
cranes, lift planning and other plant equipment used in the construction, 
industrial and port sectors. As such, it is viewed as supporting various B1, B2 
and B8 uses which would comply with the requirements of Policy 117.E.

24



26. In principle therefore, the proposed change of use and demolition is 
considered to be acceptable in principle.

Traffic & Highway Issues

27.The proposed change of use from B2 to D1 for Building 6 would result in 
fewer vehicle movements. In addition to this, the demolition of Building 7 
would remove further B2 floorspace, resulting in a further reduction. This, 
together with the daytime operation of the use and lack of HGV movements 
associated with the training use (no practical training will take place on site, 
only classroom based) should result in no additional impact upon the local 
highway network, railway bridge or Campbell Road as a whole.

28.The concerns raised with regards to demolition vehicles having to use 
Campbell Road railway bridge are noted. However, the number of movements 
associated with demolition works would be modest in comparison to daily 
movements using the bridge. With regards to the weight of these demolition 
vehicles, there are no official weight restrictions applied to the bridge, so no 
control on the nature or weight of demolition vehicles could be applied.

Amenity

29.The D1 classroom based training nature of the use, and daytime hours will 
have no impact upon the amenity of neighbouring uses or the surrounding 
area in general.

Nature Conservation

30.The site and immediate surrounding area is not subject to any nature 
conservation designations and is unlikely to be used by protected species 
such as bats due to the high level of activity throughout the day and night, as 
well as lighting of the works site overnight which would not be suitable for bats 
to roost or forage.

Planning Obligation / Considerations

31. In this instance the only planning obligations which could be sought would be 
towards sustainable transport and highway improvements. However, given 
that the proposed works would likely result in fewer trips, there would be no 
further impact upon the local highway network. As such, planning obligations 
could not be sought and are not considered necessary.

Other Material Considerations

32.A further potential benefit of the proposals is the ability to widen the pavement 
along the eastern side of Campbell Road up to Gate 2. At present the 
pavement peters out to nothing well before Gate 2 meaning that pedestrians 
must walk on the carriageway all the way up to and over the railway bridge. 
The demolition of Building 7 would allow the existing boundary fence to be 

25



moved back giving scope to widen the footway. This would require the owners 
of the railway works to gift a strip of land to the highway authority, which it is 
believed they might be agreeable to in principle, although further discussions 
would be required with Hampshire Highways.

33.Notwithstanding this potential further benefit of the application, it is not 
considered that this could be used as a prerequisite to granting planning 
permission for the revised access, although it would certainly be an additional 
bonus for all those using Campbell Road.

Conclusion

34.The proposed change of use from B2 to D1 is considered to be meet the three 
dimensions of sustainability as identified by the NPPF (social, economic and 
environmental), as well as accord with the requirements of saved Policies 
59.BE, 69.BE, 111.E and 117.E of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 
(2001-2011), together with the Council’s ‘Quality Places’ Supplementary 
Planning Document. As such, the application is recommended for approval 
subject to the conditions set out above.

26



ELAC – Eastleigh Local Area Committee Wednesday 17 July 2019.

Application Number: F/19/85188
Case Officer: Gary Osmond
Received Date: Wednesday 13 March 2019

Site Address: GATE 2 EASTLEIGH RAIL WORKS, CAMPBELL ROAD,, 
EASTLEIGH, SO50 5AD

Applicant: Diageo Pension Trust Limited.

Proposal: Reconfiguration of existing vehicular site access (Gate 2) 
and associated works including repositioned boundary fence 
and demolition of building.

Recommendation: PERMIT

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

1 The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: PL02 Rev C, PL04 Rev D, PL05 Rev C, PL07 
Rev D, PL15 Rev E & PL20 Rev C.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2 The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 
date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

3 No construction or demolition work shall start until a Method Statement has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with the 
approved method statement which shall include:
a) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated by demolition 
and construction works, including measures to prevent mud on the highway;
b) a scheme for controlling noise and vibration from demolition and construction 
activities;
c) the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works, 
loading/ unloading of plant & materials and restoration of any damage to the 
highway including vehicle crossovers and grass verges; and
d) protection of pedestrian routes during demolition and construction.
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the locality.

4 Development shall not commence until a management strategy has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority covering 
the application site and any adjoining land which will be used during the 
demolition and construction period. Such a strategy shall include the following 
matters:
a) details of the area subject to construction activity;
b) details of cranes and other tall construction equipment (including the details 

27

Agenda Item 9



of obstacle lighting) – Such schemes shall comply with Advice Note 4 ‘Cranes 
and Other Construction Issues’(available at https://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-
campaigns/operations-safety/ );
c) control of activities likely to produce dust and smoke etc;
d) details of temporary lighting – Such details shall comply with Advice Note 2 
‘Lighting Near Aerodromes’ (available at 
www.aoa.org.uk/publications/safeguarding.asp );
e) height of storage areas for materials or equipment; and
f) control and disposal of putrescible waste to prevent attraction of birds. 
The approved strategy (or any variation approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority) shall be implemented for the duration of the construction 
period.
Reason: To ensure that construction work and construction equipment on the 
site and adjoining land does not breach the Obstacle Limitation Surface (OLS) 
surrounding Southampton Airport and endanger aircraft movements and the 
safe operation of the aerodrome.

5 The development is close to the aerodrome and/or aircraft taking off from or 
landing at the aerodrome.  Lighting schemes required during construction and 
on the completed development shall be of a flat glass, full cut off design, 
mounted horizontally, and shall ensure that there is no light spill above the 
horizontal.
Reason: To avoid endangering the safe operation of aircraft through confusion 
with aeronautical ground lights or glare.

6 No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during the 
construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to 
Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Bank 
Holidays.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.

7 No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source shall 
take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.

8 All development shall be stopped immediately in the event that contamination 
not previously identified is found to be present on the development site and 
details of the contamination shall be reported immediately in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA).  

Development shall not re-start on site until the following details have then been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA:-
(a) a scheme and sampling strategy outlining a site investigation and risk 
assessments designed to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on 
the site. 
(b) a written report of the findings which includes, a description of the extent, 
scale and nature of contamination, an assessment of all potential risks to known 
receptors, an update of the conceptual site model (devised in the desktop 
study), identification of all contaminant linkages and unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the LPA and identified as unnecessary in the written report, an 

28

https://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-campaigns/operations-safety/
https://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-campaigns/operations-safety/
http://www.aoa.org.uk/publications/safeguarding.asp


appraisal of remediation options and proposal of the preferred option(s) 
identified as appropriate for the type of contamination found on site.
and (unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the LPA),
(c) a detailed remediation scheme designed to bring the site to a condition 
suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, 
buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment. The 
scheme should include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works, site management 
procedures and a verification plan outlining details of the data to be collected in 
order to demonstrate the completion of the remediation works and any 
arrangements for the continued monitoring of identified contaminant linkages;

and before any part of the development is occupied or used (unless otherwise 
first agreed in writing by the LPA) a verification report demonstrating the 
effectiveness of the remediation works carried out and a completion certificate 
confirming that the approved remediation scheme has been implemented in full 
shall both have been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. 

The above site works, details and certification submitted shall be in accordance 
with the approved scheme and undertaken by a competent person in 
accordance with best practice as outlined in BS10175:2011 and CLR11. Any 
gas monitoring deemed appropriate is to be in accordance with best practice as 
outlined in such documents as BS8576:2013, BS 8485:2015, Claire RB17 and 
CIRIA C665.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and 
other off site receptors.

Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever 
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a 
timely manner.

Note to Applicant: Applicants should be aware that the S278 Minor Works 
process will need to be entered into with HCC as Highway Authority in order to 
actually undertake works on the highway, details of which can be found via the 
following link - 
https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/developers/constructionstandards#step-2 It 
is recommended that applicants engage in this process at their earliest 
convenience.

29



Report:

This application has been referred to Committee by Councillors Bicknell, 
Campbell, Clarke and Irish, as well as for reasons of completeness and public 
interest.

Description of Application

1. The application seeks consent for the reconfiguration of an existing vehicular 
site access, which is situated between main Gates 2 & 3 on the eastern side of 
Campbell Road, together with associated works including a repositioned 
boundary fence and demolition of a building.

Topography, Trees & Boundary Treatment

2. This section of Campbell Road is relatively flat and level, albeit the works side 
of the boundary fence does lie at a slightly lower level. There are no trees on 
or adjacent to the gate location and the railway works boundaries with the road 
are marked in this location by 1.8 – 2.0 metre high steel palisade fencing.

Site Characteristics & Character of Locality

3. This access is principally used for HGV access into the railway works by the 
main site occupier, Arlington Fleet Services. Whilst it does not deal with the 
same level of traffic as the main Gates 2 & 3, it is used on a fairly regular 
basis.

4. The immediate surrounding area is very industrial in character, having been in 
use as a railway and manufacturing works for more than a hundred years. It is 
also in close proximity to the main Southampton to London railway line, as well 
as being under the flight path for Southampton Airport. However, there are 
also a significant number of residential properties situated further south along 
Campbell Road, which share the same access route along Campbell Road to 
Southampton Road.

Relevant Planning History

5. Despite the length of time the railway works have been in operation, formal 
planning history is relatively limited. Notwithstanding this, the site has a long 
established B2 general industrial use, albeit specifically related to railway use 
and ancillary operations. This has been formally established through the 
issuing of a Lawful Development Certificate in 2008.

6. In recent years with the winding down of railway operations on site, a number 
of other occupiers have moved in to make use of empty buildings, some with 
and some without any formal planning approval. The new site owners and 
landlord is now looking to rectify and formalise this situation through the 
submission of a series of planning applications, some of which are currently 
under consideration. However, in the case of this application, this is not the 
situation. Instead, this application is to improve vehicular (HGV) access to the 

30



Arlington Fleet Services depot, which would not only make their operation 
more efficient but also assist in addressing a number of highway safety and 
access issues associated with use of the existing gated access.

Representations Received

7. A total of 11 representations have been received for this application: 9 
objecting; and 2 highlighting concerns. The following issues have been raised:

 Suitability of the Campbell Road railway bridge for HGV traffic (length, size 
and weight).

 History of damage to the bridge due to the length and type of vehicles 
using it.

 Increase in traffic.
 Inconsiderate and illegal parking along Campbell Road.
 Access issues for residents and emergency vehicles.
 Highway safety.
 Pedestrian safety.
 Air and noise pollution.
 Repeated damage to the highway.
 Asbestos from demolition.

Consultation Responses

8. Hampshire Highways – No objection subject to the applicant entering into a 
S278 Minor Works agreement with HCC.

9. “The application essentially improves the vehicle access into site at Gate 2, 
widening the access with a bell mouth rather than vehicle crossover which 
improves visibility. Onwards, it is proposed to set the gates back further into 
site to ensure that waiting vehicles do not obstruct Campbell Road for other 
users.”

10.Environmental Health (Noise & Air Quality) – No objection.

11.Environmental Health (Land Contamination) – No objection subject to 
conditions relating to actions which must be taken should contamination be 
found during the course of demolition or construction works.

12.Southampton Airport Safeguarding – No objection subject to the submission 
and approval of a Demolition and Construction Management Strategy to 
ensure the safeguarding of aircraft using the aerodrome.

13.Network Rail – No comments received.

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Within Built-up Area Boundary
 Within an Established Industrial/Employment Area

31



 Close to Established Residential Area

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

14.Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) saved Policies: 25.NC, 
59.BE, 69.BE, 102.T & 111.E

15.Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 
in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While this has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be 
considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this 
application.

16.Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
The Council undertook public consultation on an updated Local Plan (2016 – 
2036) during the summer of 2018 with the plan being formally submitted to the 
Secretary of State in October 2018. Given the status of the Emerging Plan, it 
is considered that limited weight can be attributed to it.

17.Supplementary Planning Documents

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (July 2008, 

updated 2010)

National Planning Policy Framework

18.At a national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the 
‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. The NPPF states that (as required by 
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.

19.The three identified dimensions of sustainability should to be sought jointly: 
economic (supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social 
(providing housing, creating high quality environment with accessible local 
services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing 
natural, built and historic environment) whilst local circumstances should also 
be taken into account, so that development appropriately responds to the 
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different areas.

National Planning Practice Guidance 

20.Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration 
of planning applications. 

32



Policy Commentary

21.The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which 
this application will be assessed with particular regard to: the principle of that 
proposed; its layout and design; traffic and highway safety impact; impact upon 
the amenity of the area and neighbouring uses; as well as nature conservation.

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background

22.Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:-

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must 
be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise."

In this case policy issues for consideration include:

Principle

23.The application site lies within the urban edge where the basic principle of 
development is considered to be acceptable. It also lies within an established 
industrial/employment area, meaning that further proposals for similar 
development would be generally appropriate for the nature of the surrounding 
area. However, any formal planning approval will be based upon the exact 
nature, design and impact of that proposed being considered appropriate and 
in accordance with the relevant Local Plan policies and Supplementary 
Planning Documents. The most relevant policy in this case is saved Policy 
59.BE of the adopted Local Plan which requires development to take full and 
proper account of the context of the site including the character and 
appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, 
design and siting. It also requires a satisfactory means of access and layout for 
vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians, and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring 
uses and occupiers. Other saved policies of relevance are 69.BE, 102.T and 
111.E.

24.Saved Policy 69.BE relates to the Southampton International Airport Public 
Safety Zone, and states that “Development proposals which would increase 
the population living or working in the Southampton International Airport Public 
Safety Zone will not be permitted.” In this instance the proposals are intended 
to improve the existing situation and would not result in any population 
increase.

25.Saved Policy 102.T relates to development which requires a new or improved 
access and states that this would be permitted provided that proposed does 
not “i. interfere with the safety, function and standard of service of the road 
network; or ii. Have adverse environmental implications and is to the adopted 
standard of the highway authority.”

33



26.Saved Policy 111.E specifically relates to industrial development or 
redevelopment proposals within the Eastleigh Railway Works site. This sets 
out a number of criteria which must be met as part of any development 
proposals. However, the policy is more relevant to larger scale redevelopment 
of the site rather than minor works such as that proposed within this planning 
application.

27. In simple planning principle therefore, the proposed alterations and 
improvements to the existing gated access are acceptable.

Layout & Design

28.The application seeks consent for the reconfiguration of an existing vehicular 
site access, which is situated between main Gates 2 & 3 on the eastern side of 
Campbell Road, together with associated works including a repositioned 
boundary fence and demolition of a building which is required to provide 
sufficient room to reconfigure the access. The proposed alterations to the 
access will allow for improved access to the Arlington works principally for 
HGVs but will also be used by staff and all other vehicles accessing the 
Arlington works part of the site. This will involve setting the access gates 
further into the site and at a more suitable angle, thereby making it easier for 
HGVs to enter and exit the works without the need to manoeuvre all the way 
across Campbell Road. It will also provide room for HGVs to pull off the 
highway whilst waiting for the gates to open, thereby removing the need for 
vehicles to wait on Campbell Road obstructing access for other highway users.

29. In terms of layout and design, that proposed would appear to be a sensible 
improvement over the existing situation which would not only allow Arlington to 
operate more efficiently but also lessen impact on other highway users.

Traffic & Highway Issues

30.The main concern raised by those who have objected or commented upon the 
application relates to the suitability of the Campbell Road railway bridge as 
access to the railway works site, particularly for large HGVs. Their concerns 
relate to difficulties experienced by HGVs turning the sharp bends at either end 
of the bridge, which has resulted in regular damage to the structure, the weight 
of these large goods vehicles and conflicts between vehicles and pedestrians, 
as well as residents and those accessing the commercial businesses within 
the railway works site. These are all very valid concerns which appear to have 
increased over recent years as the nature of business activities within the 
railway works site have changed. As such, anything which can realistically be 
done to improve the existing situation would be welcomed.

31.Some residents have made reference to a meeting between residents and 
Network Rail representatives who are quoted as stating that the bridge has a 
weight limit of 24 tons. Network Rail has been consulted on the application and 
has been asked specifically to comment upon this point but to date no 
response has been received. Without evidence to the contrary, it must 
therefore be presumed that the bridge is not subject to any form of restriction 

34



on the weight, length or nature of vehicles which can use it, indeed there is no 
such signage on the bridge. Whilst a reasonable concern, this cannot be used 
as a reason to refuse or unnecessarily restrict this particular planning 
application.

32. In the case of this application, the proposed alterations are intended to 
improve upon the existing access and will not result in any increased vehicular 
movements or change to the nature of those movements associated with the 
Arlington works. Whilst this would not address the concerns raised in relation 
to the bridge, it would greatly improve upon issues of highway obstruction by 
waiting HGVs and highway safety through much improved manoeuvring space 
and sightlines when exiting the site. As such the application is considered to 
accord with these elements of saved Policies 59.BE and 102.T of the adopted 
Local Plan.

Amenity

33.A further benefit of the improved access is that it would become the main 
access point for the Arlington works and all traffic associated with it. This 
would result in less movements using Gate 3 further to the south along 
Campbell Road, which is the closest gate to residential properties. As such this 
should help to reduce disturbance to those residents adjacent to Gate 3.

34.Access to the revised gate will be required 24/7 for Arlington and their sub-
tenants to fulfil National Rail requirements for the servicing of railway rolling 
stock. This is the same as the current situation but without the need to 
continue using Gate 3, and due to the access being 190 metres away from the 
closest residential property, it is not envisaged that this would result in any 
unacceptable disturbance to the amenity of residents.

35.A potential temporary source of disturbance could result from the demolition of 
the building required provide room for the new access, and the construction of 
the access itself. However, this can be addressed through conditions relating 
to demolition/construction hours, as well as dust suppression, etc.

Nature Conservation

36.The site and immediate surrounding area is not subject to any nature 
conservation designations and is unlikely to be used by protected species such 
as bats due to the high level of activity throughout the day and night, as well as 
lighting of the works site overnight which would not be suitable for bats to roost 
or forage.

Planning Obligation / Considerations

37. In this instance the only planning obligations which could be sought would be 
towards sustainable transport and highway improvements. However, given that 
the proposed works are intended to improve an existing situation rather than 
allow for an increase in vehicle movements, there would be no further impact 

35



upon the local highway network. As such, planning obligations could not be 
sought.

Other Material Considerations

38.A further potential benefit of the proposals is the ability to widen the pavement 
along the eastern side of Campbell Road up to Gate 2. At present the 
pavement peters out to nothing well before Gate 2 meaning that pedestrians 
must walk on the carriageway all the way up to and over the railway bridge. 
The demolition of the building would allow the existing boundary fence to be 
moved back giving scope to widen the footway. This would require the owners 
of the railway works to gift a strip of land to the highway authority, which it is 
believed they might be agreeable to in principle, although further discussions 
would be required with Hampshire Highways.

39.Notwithstanding this potential further benefit of the application, it is not 
considered that this could be used as a prerequisite to granting planning 
permission for the revised access, although it would certainly be an additional 
bonus for all those using Campbell Road.

Conclusion

40.Notwithstanding the strong concerns expressed in relation to the Campbell 
Road railway bridge, it is not considered that the proposed development would 
result in any further impact upon the existing difficulties experienced by all who 
have to access Campbell Road. This could not therefore be used as a 
justifiable reason to refuse the application. However, the application does 
provide the opportunity to significantly improve highway safety and residential 
amenity, as well as operations for Arlington, who are a significant local 
employer.

41. It is therefore considered that the application achieves the three dimensions of 
sustainability as identified by the NPPF (social, economic and environmental), 
as well as accord with the requirements of saved Policies 59.BE, 69.BE, 102.T 
& 111.E of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and 
the Council’s ‘Quality Places’ Supplementary Planning Document. As such, the 
application is therefore recommended for approval subject to the conditions set 
out above.

36


	Agenda
	3 Minutes - 11/06/2019
	7 Planning Application - Unit 3 Eastleigh Rail Works, Campbell Road, Eastleigh, SO50 5AD - F/19/85189
	8 Planning Application - Eastleigh Rail Works, Campbell Road, Eastleigh, SO50 5AD - F/19/85191
	9 Planning Application - Gate 2 Eastleigh Rail Works Campbell Road Eastleigh SO50 5AD F/19/85188

